MINUTES OF THE SOUTH EAST LONDON JOINT HEALTH OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE (SEL JHOSC) MEETING

Thursday, 1 February 2024 at 7.30pm

IN ATTENDANCE: Councillors Chris Best - Chair (LB of Lewisham), Mark Brock (LB of Bromley), Christopher Taylor - Vice-Chair (LB of Bexley), Carol Webley-Brown (LB of Lewisham), Rachel Taggart-Ryan (RB of Greenwich), Suzanne Abachor (LB of Southwark) Maria Linforth-Hall (LB of Southwark)

ALSO PRESENT: Ailsa Willens (Programme Director and Joint SRO, NHS England- London Region), Fiona Gaylor (Consultant, Transformation Partners in Health and Care NHS England), Graham Walton (Democratic Services Manager, LB of Bromley), Matthew Duckworth (Scrutiny Committee Officer, LB of Bexley) and Nidhi Patil (Scrutiny Manager, LB of Lewisham)

ALSO PRESENT VIRTUALLY: Simon Barton (Medical Director for Specialised Commissioning – NHS England, London Region); Rachael Reeve (Director of Marketing and Communications- The Royal Marsden); Sarah Cottingham (Director of Planning, NHS South East London ICB); Professor Nicholas VanAs (Medical Director- The Royal Marsden); Catherine Croucher (Consultant in Public Health, NHS England- London region); Sabahat Hassan (Head of Partnerships and Engagement, South East Commissioning Directorate, NHS England); Wendy Binmore (Senior Democratic Services Officer- LB Lambeth)

8 Apologies for Absence and Substitute Members (Agenda item 1)

Apologies had been received from Councillor Felicity Bainbridge (LB of Bromley), Councillor Lisa-Jane Moore (LB of Bexley), Councillor Clare Burke McDonald (RB Greenwich) and Councillor Christine Banton (LB of Lambeth).

9 Minutes of the last meeting held on 6th July 2023 (Agenda item 2)

RESOLVED: that the minutes of the last meeting be agreed as a true record

10 Declarations of Interest and Dispensations (Agenda item 3)

None.

11 <u>Items of Late Business</u> (Agenda item 4)

None.

12 <u>Reconfiguration of Children's Cancer Principal Treatment Centre</u> (Agenda item 5)

The Committee received a presentation from NHS England which provided a recap of the process thus far; an end of public consultation update (key findings of the public consultation taken from the independent report); a decision-making update; and next steps.

The following key points were noted:

- 12.1 The Consultation ran for a 12-week period, starting on 26th September 2023 and concluding on 18th December 2023; views were sought on the strengths and challenges of both options consulted upon, and views were also sought on how some of the challenges could be overcome.
- 12.2 The consultation was open to all, however specific key stakeholders included: Groups directly impacted (children and young people with cancer or who have experienced cancer (and their families and clinical and non-clinical staff from the hospitals involved); professional bodes; children, young people and their families with related experience; and communities with specific protected characteristics.
- 12.3 Overall, there were 2669 formal responses to the consultation which included those that had completed the survey (online and in hard copy) as well as face to face conversations and organisational responses. NHS England were happy with the number of responses.
- 12.4 There was an active petition that received over 10,000 signatures and comments. It was launched by a group of people with experience or family experience of care at The Royal Marsden. The petition advocated for a different model for the future of the service, where an element of care continues at The Royal Marsden, with those at low risk of intensive care being treated there and those at higher risk of requiring intensive care being treated at St Georges. NHSE reiterated that the purpose of the consultation was to get feedback on the two options presented for the future location of the Principal Treatment Centre and that the national service specification was the driver for the change as specialist children cancer services are required to be on the same site as the children's intensive care unit.
- 12.5 There was good reach to affected clinical and non-clinical staff; during the consultation NHE England heard from 155 Royal Marsden staff and 216 St George's Hospital staff which represented a good proportion of staffing who provide the current service.
- 12.6 In terms of hearing from those with direct experience, around 16% of respondents were either children & young people who have been affected by cancer or family members and advocates of children and young people who have been affected by cancer. While ideally NHS England would have

liked to have heard a little more from children and young people, the reported that they nonetheless had rich feedback from play specialist sessions on wards.

- 12.7 16% of all respondents to the consultation were from the South East London ICB area, with a greater level of response coming from South West London. This response rate was reported to roughly align with the proportion of people who currently use the service.
- 12.8 Many of the SEL responses were from affected clinical and non-clinical staff and NHSE reported that they were happy with the reach into ethnic groups in SEL. There was a slight skew in the age of respondents with most being between the ages of 41-60, it was reported however that there was still a good proportion of responses from children and young people. The Committee were assured that the patient cohort who responded to the consultation was representative.
- 12.9 In terms of the themes of general feedback from the consultation, the following were highlighted from the independent consultation report:
 - ➤ There was a desire to have all or most specialist services located in a single location
 - > Specialist knowledge of children's cancer care was highly valued
 - People wanted a convenient location particularly in terms of car access
 - People wanted a location with strong research facilities and a track record

People also wanted:

- > A child-friendly hospital
- To preserve the welcoming family friendly atmosphere of The Royal Marsden
- > En-suite accommodation and good facilities for parents
- Car park access/dedicated parking
- 12.10 In terms of feedback for the Evelina option, comments with regards to the strengths included:
 - ➤ It is a purpose-built children's hospital which has a range of other specialisms including heart and kidney care.
 - ➤ It has a large children's intensive care unit with the perception that this would mean that there is capacity for intensive care for children with cancer.
 - ➤ It has good public transport links given its Central London location
 - > It is well located for access to local amenities
 - ➤ It is located close to University College Hospital, if a child or young person needs to travel for radiotherapy.
 - In terms of strengths raised by NHS staff:
 - Staff at the Evelina already work with some children with cancer and children's cancer services through their existing work

- There are links to adult cancer services through Guy's and St Thomas' NHS Foundation Trust
- ➤ It uses the same IT system for patient records as The Royal Marsden which would help ensure a smooth transition
- 12.11 In terms of comments made with regards to challenges for the Evelina option, these included:
 - ➤ A lack of experience and expertise in children's cancer care and children's cancer
 - It does not provide neurosurgery
 - It does not conduct research in paediatric cancer
 - It is perceived that it may face significant recruitment issues as it would be heavily reliant on retaining experienced staff from The Royal Marsden
 - Concern that staff may not want to work and travel to central London
 - It would be difficult for families to access Evelina by car which is a preferred method of transport as well as costly and time consuming
 - ➤ Family accommodation at Evelina is considered as not being close to the hospital. Eligibility for and the availability of accommodation may not be guaranteed.

Challenges raised by staff included:

- Recruitment to Evelina could have a potential negative impact on the recruitment and retention of staff for other nearby NHS services due to competing demand.
- > There is a perception that Evelina lacks space to take on the service.
- 12.12 In terms of feedback for the St George's option, comments with regards to the strengths included:
 - ➤ It is part of a well-established Principal Treatment Centre, with services and pathways already on place.
 - ➤ It has existing links with The Royal Marsden
 - Some neurosurgery is offered on site and a well-established children's cancer surgery service
 - Easy access by car
 - Lots of private rooms with ensuite facilities and family accommodation nearby.
- 12.13 In terms of comments made on the challenges for the St George's option, these included:
 - The current estate was described in some feedback as being outdated and facilities as poor.
 - Perceived lack of privacy on the ward
 - Perception that the research proposition is not strong, with lack of experience in running clinical trials for children with cancer

Difficult for families to access including by car. Costly and time consuming for families to travel and there is not enough family accommodation.

Challenges raised by staff included:

- Perceived financial constraints at St George's Hospital
- Disentangling existing relationships to set up the new PTC could be challenging.
- ➤ It does not use the same IT system for patient records as The Royal Marsden which could negatively effect the transition.
- 12.14 Comments made about the strengths of the Radiotherapy proposal which included:
 - There are benefits associated with consolidating radiotherapy expertise and services in one location.
 - There is existing knowledge and experience of staff at University College Hospital
 - Other treatments are available there (e.g. proton beam therapy)

In terms of the challenges of the radiotherapy proposal, comments included:

- Challenges of transport of very sick children into central London
- ➤ Some families would face longer journey times to UCH to receive radiotherapy treatment, when compared to The Royal Marsden
- Concerns about the capacity and resourcing of UCH to take on the service.
- > Potential negative experience of disjointed care.
- 12.15 A range of other ideas were put forward through the consultation including some alternative proposals. These included a risk-adapted model that retains the PTC at Royal Marsden and St George's; a 3 stage solution; and the utilisation of the new hospital to be built in Sutton, next to The Royal Marsden.
- 12.16 Some respondents across the stakeholder groups also expressed some criticism of the consultation itself which included:
 - ➤ The perception that the consultation was biased or the result had already been decided as a preferred option had been identified.
 - ➤ A feeling from a few parents, carers and advocates that their feedback has not been listened to (during pre-consultation)
 - ➤ A feeling of doubt from some parents, carer and members of staff that their feedback could actually affect the decision-making process.
- 12.17 Detail was provided on the planned decision-making process noting that activity is underway within NHS England to consider the themes from the consultation feedback. NHS England provided an outline of arrangements for

decision making with the detail of when the decision to be confirmed. They also outlined some of the areas of focus after decision-making. It was noted that NHS England will look to return to the JHOSC when a decision has been made.

12.18 It was reported that service will not move until the end of 2026 and there is a lot more work that will be done in the meantime including more detailed plans on the environment of the hospital; travel and access; as well as a focus on maintaining research and looking after staff in the service.

The Committee then proceeded to make a number of queries and comments with regard to the consultation feedback and the proposals in general. The key points from this discussion included:

- 12.19 Concern was expressed over the affordability of travel costs and accommodation, particularly if families need to find nearby hotels if they cannot use the nearby accommodation or require additional rooms for example, if they have other children they need to bring with them. It was reported that in terms of family accommodation, both potential locations already have the ability to have families stay if receiving treatment, but there are nuances to consider including the facilities on offer and how close they are to where children are being treated. It was explained that consideration will also need to be given to what additional capacity might be required. It was reported that the costs of accommodation could be subsidised if the usual accommodation is not available.
- 12.20 Concern was expressed about the additional expected travel costs by road, in light of the anticipated charges for both the Blackwall and Silvertown tunnels which will impact South East London residents (in addition to the ULEZ and congestion zone charges which had been discussed previously.)
- 12.21 It was noted that analysis into additional travel costs has been done and continues which has been focussed on the costs of driving as well as having examples of potential increases in public transport costs. It was reported that further analysis will be available in the next iteration of the impact assessment. It was noted that there will be a travel and access working group, which both potential options have committed to setting up.
- 12.22 It was reported that reimbursement schemes are already in place for people receiving cancer services, and it is highly likely that families will be eligible for reimbursement but there may be some work required to help people understand what is available and how to access it.

It was noted that shared care units (POSCUs) were also part of the service specification for Paediatric Oncology that was published in November 2021. It was explained that significant changes and investment are planned, to increase the level of care that children receive closer to home. It was reported that this work should ensure that only the patients with the greatest need would need to go to the Principal Treatment Centre for very specialist care. It was noted that both options for the future location of the PTC would meet the national service specification.

An update was sought on the provision of free hospital transport further to previous

discussions; it was reported that where people do not drive or cannot use public transport, there is non-emergency hospital transport available. It was explained that this is dedicated transport, provided by the hospitals which collect and take children to their appointments. It is a scheme that all hospitals have in place with eligibility criteria; it was reported that children with cancer are likely to meet that criteria. The Chair commented that such transport will be needed particularly for people in more remote areas.

Updates were also sought on plans to provide dedicated parking spaces; it was noted that both potential options are reviewing the car parking in the whole of their estate. Both options plan to provide a level of dedicated car parking at least equivalent to that available at The Royal Marsden. It was reported that during the implementation period, plans will be worked up for mobility volunteers or hospital staff to make sure children are safe in that environment.

The Medical Director at The Royal Marsden reported that the two consulted options – Evelina and St Georges cannot physically replicate the arrangements that are in place at The Royal Marsden in terms of car parking and access via car such as being able to drop people at the front door for example. It was reported that it was clear from the consultation that access and easy vehicle access was very important to people.

Concern was expressed about discontent among health professionals in recent times, and particular concern was expressed about nurses for the service if they are required to drive to a new location and what can be done to ensure they can afford to do that.

Concern was also expressed about car parking for staff which can be difficult and expensive.

A Member commented that they would not want to see the workforce diluted with support staff and that the high excellence of care currently provided at The Royal Marsden needs to be maintained. It was commented that a package of wraparound support needs to be provided for staff.

NHS England reported that they want to give certainty to staff about the future of the service and to make a decision in a timely way to allow more detailed planning work to take place. Specifics for staff and packages/support that can be made available will be worked through.

In terms of travel costs for staff, NHS England advised that there will be protections for staff carried over in this area for a period of time after a move. It was recognised that not everyone will want to transfer over, and that during the transition period, the chosen hospital would need to plan and work on any gaps that exist.

The Medical Director at The Royal Marsden reported that 60% of their staff live local to Sutton and others tend to live outside of the M25. It was reported that 80% of their paediatric staff either drive to work or live close enough to work to cycle or use a local bus; it was commented that a high proportion of staff from the service

will not move due to their own circumstance and will not commute into central London. It was commented that not all staff will move from The Royal Marsden for either option.

Concern was expressed by Members about the potential for competition with other nearby hospitals/Children's hospitals such as Great Ormond Street if the future location of the PTC service is to be in Central London, given the high density of hospitals.

NHS England reported in response to a query that they will be supporting the hospitals concerned in communicating with staff over the coming period. It was acknowledged that change can create anxiety and work with hospitals is being prioritised; there was work with Trusts in the run up to the publication of the consultation report and it was explained that this work will continue with Trusts up to and after a decision is made.

The Chair proceeded to summarise the key points/comments the Committee would like to include in their formal response to the proposals, that will be submitted to NHS England; this included comments made at the meeting with relation to:

- Travel and other incidental costs (e.g. ULEZ, Congestion Charges and tolls for river crossings, accommodation for families)
- Workforce Concerns including concerns about capacity and which staff would move as well as the potential for competition with other hospitals in Central London.
- ➤ The local support offer (POSCUs)
- 12.36 It was also commented that in terms of comments the Committee had made previously about the delivery timescale, that the Committee would want to hear from NHS England again after a decision has been taken and that certainty for patients and staff would be welcome.
- 12.37 The Committee went onto consider whether they had a preferred option of the two being consulted upon. A Member of the Committee expressed an alternate view and a preference for services remaining at the current sites of The Royal Marsden and St Georges given the excellent service delivered currently and the good links already in place between the two hospitals and commented on the importance of the quality of treatment. As a result, the Committee's conclusion was non-unanimous, however in terms of the two options presented, by significant majority and based on the evidence presented and considered, the Committee's recommended/preferred option was for Guys and St. Thomas' NHS Foundation Trust's Evelina London Children's Hospital to be the future location of the Principal Treatment Centre.

RESOLVED:

- That the presentation be noted
- That the comments made under the item with relation to: Travel and other incidental costs (e.g. ULEZ, Congestion Charges and tolls for river crossings, accommodation for families); Workforce Concerns; and the

local support offer (POSCUs) be included in the Committee's formal response to NHS England on the proposals.

- That the Committee's preferred option of Guy's and St Thomas' NHS Foundation Trust's Evelina London Children's Hospital to be the future location of the Principal Treatment Centre to be included in the formal response.
- That NHS England be invited to come back to the Committee once a decision has been made.

13 <u>Management Cost Reduction (MCR) Update</u> (Agenda Item 6)

Sarah Cottingham (SEL ICB) presented this item to the Committee. The following key points were noted:

- 13.1 The Committee were reminded that the ICB had undergone a detailed review process and there was a focus on minimising impact and there has been an acknowledgement that there cannot just be a sole focus on restructuring given work with wider partners.
- 13.2 There were 6 stages to the Management Cost Reduction process, and that the ICB was now in the implementation stage. It was reported that there had been a good response to consultation with staff.
- 13.3 It was reported that the ICB were managing some changes but had published the final revised structure in December and they are now undertaking a job matching process.
- 13.4 The overall saving was reported to be £15.2m and 25% of WTE equivalent.
- 13.5 The recruitment process will be completed at the end of March.
- 13.6 Following a Member query it was reported that with regards to the staff consultation the vast majority of questions related to individual HR questions or understanding the HR process or to think about ways of working. Changes were made as a result of comments around job changes and job roles. Concern was expressed about meeting short term requirements in a reduced capacity- so some changes were made in a couple of areas.
- 13.7 It was reported that there is no guarantee that the £15.2m saving will be reinvested in South East London but it will be reinvested into patient care. Although the process was noted to be difficult for staff it was stressed that the reductions do not affect staff in front line services.
- 13.8 In terms of borough differentials- it was reported that there was a 30% target in overall terms which has been applied differentially which was related to work about core functions and responsibilities. It was recognised within the ICB that there are 6 borough based teams as well as SEL teams; it was reported that the SEL teams have had a bigger savings target than the borough-based teams. Some boroughs have historically had a greater level of management resource

than others so that has been addressed.

RESOLVED: That the report be noted

14 <u>Urgent and Emergency Care and Discharge</u> (Agenda Item 7)

Sarah Cottingham (SEL ICB) presented this item to the Committee. The following key points were noted:

- 14.1 The national expectation with regards to performance standards specifically in terms of A&E waiting times is that there is a target to achieve by March 2024 of 76% of patients who attend A&E are to be seen and discharged within 4 hours of arrival.
- 14.2 There has been a huge emphasis on hospital handover with the London Ambulance Services (LAS). A handover protocol regarding a maximum wait for ambulances of 45 minutes had been implemented as a pilot and is now business as usual. This has helped improve overall turnaround times.
- 14.3 A lot of work had been done on overstay and discharge with investments made through the better care fund. There has also been ongoing development and expansion of community services, for example, virtual wards.
- 14.4 The ICS had been working on alternatives to admission within hospitals with a programme on expanding pathways for same day/emergency care units; supporting discharge rather than admittance to hospital.
- 14.5 There has been a lot of focus on how to support an improved Mental Health crisis offer to help reduce pressure on emergency departments. Since autumn 2023, there has been a roll out of an NHS 111 service/route for specific Mental Health concerns as well as increased bed capacity with more beds coming online for March 2024.
- 14.6 Despite those efforts the system remains in a challenged position. There were positive improvements in quarter 1 within UEC which was followed with more challenges and deterioration in performance which then stablished. It was reported the system is currently some way off where they want to be in terms of UEC performance. Real push in coming weeks to get as close to the 76% target at year end as possible. An improvement in January had been seen compared to December.
- 14.7 There had been lot of periods of industrial action- which had impacted on continuity —with priority being given to safeguarding UEC during industrial action.
- 14.8 In terms of discharge it was reported that a percentage of patients that are ready for discharge remain in beds while medically fit for discharge; it was explained that there are challenges which can vary day to day. On average the system are discharging 50% of people on the day they are determined to be medically fit which highlights the challenges with flow but also the opportunities for improvement.

- 14.9 There was a discharge summit which agreed a number of objectives including agreement on investment to support improvement in discharge processes and more funding into transfer of care hubs. There has also been additional money into capacity of intermediate care or nursing home beds. The ICS are trying to make sure use they use money wisely and have more sophisticated approaches to demand and capacity planning.
- 14.10 A number of discharge improvement initiatives had been agreed which were Borough related initiatives each borough will have their own nuances. The ICS run a SEL discharge group so they have an overview of what is happening- to share best practice and learning; they are also part of regional groups.

The Committee proceed to make the following comments and queries, which are summarised below:

- 14.11 It was commented that there are challenges in discharge funding in the boroughs going forward and that some pathways have had to be paired back as in Bexley. In terms of funding and planning for 2024/25 it was reported that some additional discharge funding is expected nationally but it will be difficult to keep up with demand.
- 14.12 Concern was expressed about wait times, and about repeat attendees; it was thought more work could be done with such patients who are often mental health patients or those with Special educational needs and/or disabilities. Concern was also expressed about lost bed capacity in some boroughs for mental health patients. It was reported that regular attendees are tracked to identify and offer ongoing support packages but it was recognised that here are ongoing challenges. It was reported that there would be 26 extra mental health beds being provided this quarter and more beds are being commissioned.
- 14.13 It was commented that earlier discharges during the day are needed as there have been issues with late discharge and having their home ready for them which can affect flow.
- 14.14 In terms of emergency care, clarity was sought on how the NHS are working with on-site facilities for primary care to capture people who should be going to primary care but are attending A&E. It was noted that NHS111 does redirect people back into primary care or UTCs; it was noted that UTCs also have GPS doing GP sessions. It was recognised that there are challenges for people in accessing urgent and same day access.

RESOLVED: That the report be noted.

15 SEL JHOSC Work Programme (Agenda Item 8)

15.1 The Committee noted their work programme report including the items proposed previously for the Committee's future work programme. It was hoped that the Committee's next meeting could be held in early Summer and be hosted in Greenwich, where possible.

RESOLVED: That the suggestions for the Committee's work programme be noted.

The meeting ended at 9:40 pm.	
Chair:	
Date:	